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The US Navy experimented with flying aircraft off and onto naval vessels as early 
as 1910. Such tests utilized temporary, short platforms mounted on cruisers. This 
was a concept also tried by other navies; notably the Royal Navy.  
 
During World War I, the British placed a 230 foot long wooden flight deck on one 
of their battle cruisers. But they left the vessel's large superstructure in place, 
which greatly hindered aircraft operations.  
 
Their next step was to create a vessel with a full length and unimpeded flight 
deck. The design of the Royal Navy's first true aircraft carrier also included 
several other carrier fundamentals; including the incorporation of a hangar deck, 
aircraft elevators and catapults.    
 
An ocean liner whose construction had been suspended was purchased by the 
Royal Navy and completed as a flush deck aircraft carrier. She was 
commissioned in late 1918, too late to participate in World War I. But she served 
for two decades as a test bed for British Naval Aviation, and later participated in 
and survived World War II.   
 
American aviators witnessed the operation of these two vessels and returned to 
the United States anxious to create an American aircraft carrier. After the 
objections of the US Navy's then-dominant 'battleship admirals' were overcome, 
the Navy was able to convince Congress to authorize funding for what later 
became designated as the USS LANGLEY (CV-1) [Carrier Vessel Number 1]. 
 
In July of 1919, Congress authorized the expenditure of $25 million "...for the 
conversion of the United States steamship JUPITER into an aeroplane carrier." 
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JUPITER was a naval auxiliary; one of several coal colliers built to supply coal to 
the fighting ships of the US Navy before oil-fired boilers became the norm. She 
was built at the Mare Island Naval Shipyard in Vallejo, California for less than 
$1.5 million [1911 dollars].  
 
Commissioned in April of 1913, she was 542 feet long and displaced 19,300 
tons. She was fitted with twin propeller shafts that could drive her, fully loaded, at 
14 knots.  
 
At completion she boasted one of many 'firsts' she recorded during her career. 
Her propulsion plant featured two experimental General Electric turbo-electric 
generator sets that collectively could generate 7,200 shaft horse power. 
JUPITER was the first Navy vessel to have this advanced type of propulsion 
system installed [and later utilized in several battleships].  
 
She was fitted with a virtual forest of seven A-frames standing fifty feet high that 
supported twice as many coal handling booms. Her main deck was a cluttered 
maze of winches and other gear associated with the dirty and largely manual 
task of transferring coal from her six large cargo holds to other ships.  
 
Well forward, JUPITER's bridge structure was mounted somewhat precariously 
on stilts above her foredeck. Aft of her coal handling gear, she featured an 
unusual arrangements of smoke stacks, positioned side by side instead of the 
more normal fore-and-aft configuration seen in most ships.   
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Following roughly a year and a half of coaling service to America's Pacific Fleet, 
the JUPITER was transferred to the Atlantic. In October of 1914, she became the 
first US Navy vessel to transit the Panama Canal from west to east. That vital 
waterway had been opened just two months previous to her passage. 
 
For the next few years, including the period of time the United States participated 
in World War I, the JUPITER provided coal collier service to the Atlantic Fleet 
and also moved supplies to France. June 5, 1917, was a significant day for her. 
While approaching the port city of Pauillac, France, a German U-boat fired two 
torpedoes at her.  
 
Both missed, no doubt much to the relief of a small group of US Navy officers 
and enlisted men embarked who were on their way to establish a seaplane base 
near that French city. That unit was the Navy's First Aeronautic Detachment, 
making the initial deployment of many American aviation units to France. 
  
 

The unit's leader was Lieutenant Kenneth 
Whiting [left], US Naval Academy, Class of 
1905 who had been taught to fly by Orville 
Wright before becoming qualified as US 
Naval Aviator #16.  After the cessation of 
hostilities, he was one of the Navy's strongest 
advocates for creating aircraft carriers.  
 
When the JUPITER was transformed into the 
USS LANGLEY (CV-1), he was assigned to 
the ship as the vessel's first Executive 
Officer. Whiting also briefly served as her 
acting commanding officer and was 
responsible for much of the early 

development of US Navy carrier operations. On November 18, 1922, he made 
the first catapulted launch of an aircraft from LANGLEY. 
 
A decade later he served for a year as the LANGLEY's commanding officer and 
after that as the captain of another aircraft carrier before retiring in 1940. Captain 
Whiting passed away in 1943 at age 62. Appropriately, the Navy named a 
seaplane tender and a naval air station in his memory. 
     
 
At the end of World War I, the JUPITER returned to providing collier services to 
the Atlantic Fleet. When petitioning Congress to allow them to convert an existing 
vessel to become the nation's first aircraft carrier, naval aviators asked for either 
the USS JUPITER or her sister ship, the USS JASON to be made available. Both 
vessels had large cargo holds that were considered ideally suited for conversion 
into additional living quarters, aviation workshops and storerooms.  
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In March of 1920, the JUPITER entered the Norfolk Navy Yard to begin her 
metamorphosis. The following month, she was renamed LANGLEY in honor of  
aviation pioneer Samuel Langley. At that time her designation changed from that 
of a collier to CV-1.    
 
A large portion of her 
superstructure and all of her coal 
handling gear were removed. 
High above her main deck, a 
skeleton of steel was erected that 
ran the full length of her hull. 
Atop this a wooden flight deck 
was constructed.   
 
The LANGLEY became a true flush-deck carrier with no island structure. Her 
original bridge [depicted below, left during her conversion] was retained. Tucked 
under the vessel's flight deck, it provided limited visibility for navigation. 

 
Her twin smoke stacks were removed 
and her boiler uptakes routed 
horizontally to the vessel's port side, 
just below the flight deck level. 
Originally, these uptakes were 
terminated at a single funnel, which 
could be positioned vertically when 
underway and not conducting flight 
operations. When aircraft were 
landing, the funnel was capable of 
being rotated aft to a horizontal 
position [see image, below, right]. 

 
This proved unworkable, so soon after 
being commissioned the LANGLEY 
was fitted with a set of twin funnels 
that could be rotated outward, thus 
carrying the vessel's boiler hot 
exhaust gases far enough away from 
the ship to minimize interference with 
flight operations. A similar design, 
featuring six funnels, three to a side, 
was later tried on the USS RANGER 
(CV-4). All other carriers of that era 
had their funnels incorporated into  
permanent island structures.    �
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The LANGLEY did not have an enclosed hangar. The cavernous area between 
her hangar and flight decks was largely exposed to the elements on both sides. 
Cranes nestled under the flight deck were utilized to move aircraft from pier to 
ship or vice-versa. Vertical movement of aircraft between the two decks was 
provided by a single, electrically powered elevator that was located roughly 
amidships and which could be raised to a position flush with the flight deck. This 
mechanism could accomodate a single airplane.  
 
This was an ungainly device. Its base, which contained the elevator machinery, 
stood several feet above the hangar deck. Aircraft had to be manually pushed 
from storage locations elsewhere on hangar deck to a position near enough to a 
gantry crane located under the flight deck for lifting them onto this platform.  
 
A general view of this arrangement follows, taken when visitors to the ship were 
treated to a demonstration. Operational experience with LANGLEY later led to all 
American carriers having more than one aircraft elevator; all of which were 
capable of being lowered flush to the more modern vessels' enclosed hangars.       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The arresting gear system originally installed onboard the LANGLEY was a bit 
primitive. It consisted of multiple wires running fore and aft on the flight deck. 
Suspended about ten inches above the deck, the wires converged as they ran 
forward. This crude design was used to engage the wheels of aircrafts' fixed 
landing gear and slow planes down until sailors running towards the aircraft  from 
both sides could grab hold of wing tips and stop the forward motion completely.  
 
This technique worked better than might be expected, since the landing speed of 
aircraft in the early 1920s was quite slow. Arresting gear cables positioned 
transversely across a carrier's flight deck and tail hooks added to aircraft soon 
replaced the fore and aft converging wire scheme. These improvements were 
first proven successful during at sea flight operations onboard CV-1.   
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The LANGLEY was initially fitted with two catapults on her flight deck. Nothing is 
known about their mechanics. Most likely they were driven by compressed air 
and could only launch aircraft that weighed a fraction of today's naval aircraft. 
 
On March 20, 1922, the USS LANGLEY (CV-1) was commissioned at the Norfolk 
Navy Yard. As an aircraft carrier, her fully loaded displacement [15,150 tons] 
became almost 21% less than that when she was a coal collier. Consequently, 
her top speed increased to 15.5 knots. 
 
Accommodations for her operational crew, plus air wing personnel was 468; 
substantially more than the 163 officers and men required to operate the vessel 
when she had been the JUPITER.   
 
For self-defense, CV-1 was fitted with four, 5-inch/51 caliber gun mounts. The 
number of aircraft she could carry, all of which originally were biplanes without 
folding wings was in the 34-36 range, depending on the type of aircraft. 
 
She also initially carried some additional winged creatures!      
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In the early 1920's, radio communication was in its infancy. Scouting aircraft 
could not rely on their transmissions getting back to the carrier that had launched 
them, so it was common practice for such aircraft to carry one or more pigeons. 
When released, with a message attached to one leg, a pigeon usually flew back 
to the ship. 
 
When commissioned, the LANGLEY had an 
elaborate carrier pigeon house installed on the 
fantail of her hangar deck [right]. This facility 
contained bird food storage, nesting facilities, 
and training and trapping areas.   
 
While the ship was being converted from collier 
to carrier, a flock of pigeons was trained at the 
Norfolk Navy Yard. Whenever one of these 
birds was released some distance from the 
carrier, it would usually fly back to its home.  
 
But on one occasion, when the LANGLEY was operating in the Chesapeake Bay 
near Tangier Island, for some reason her entire flock of pigeons was released. 
Instead of returning to the ship, they all flew south, ending up at the Norfolk Navy 
Yard, where they roosted on shipyard cranes. For this 'dereliction of duty', all of 
the pigeons assigned to the LANGLEY were 'discharged from naval service'. 
Shortly thereafter, the pigeon house was converted into quarters for the carrier's 
Executive Officer.   
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When the LANGLEY went to sea, her flight deck 
looked to some like a giant canopy. This  earned her 
the nickname of 'Covered Wagon'. Amused, her 
crew voted to have the image on the right made 
their ship's insignia.  This artwork conveyed the 
image of a ship with a canvas cover that was 
reminiscent of American pioneer days when settlers 
moved west in wagons, called 'prairie schooners'.  
 
For LANGLEY, that was certainly appropriate, for 
she was certainly an American pioneer herself.     
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During her first year of service, 
LANGLEY recorded a number of historic 
firsts as her crew learned through 
experience how to efficiently launch and 
recover aircraft at sea. On October 17, 
1922, a US Navy Vought VE-7 Bluebird 
[left] flew off the carrier for the first time.  
 
That historic happening took place while 
the LANGLEY was at anchor in Virginia's 
York River. She had been purposely 
positioned near a US Navy aviation 
training school that once was located on 
the grounds of what is now the US Naval 
Weapons Station. After taking off from 
the carrier, the VE-7 aircraft landed at the 
now-defunct school's grass airfield.    
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Nine days later, an Aeromarine 39B [below] landed successfully while CV-1 was 
underway off Cape Henry, Virginia. Then, less than a month later, the 
LANGLEY's first catapult launch was recorded in the carrier's log book.    
 

 
 

Admiral Moffett, the Navy's first chief of the Bureau of Aeronautics marked these 
successes by prophetically remarking:  
 
"The air fleet of an enemy will never get within striking distance of our coast as 
long as our aircraft carriers are able to carry the preponderance of our air power 
to sea".   
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Following this string of seminal events, the LANGLEY's crew worked daily to 
perfect procedures for operating aircraft over the next several months. Kenneth 
Whiting, the carrier's acting skipper habitually stood all the way aft in the netting 
suspended from the port side of LANGLEY's flight deck to assess landings. 
 
Reportedly, on one occasion, a nervous pilot who had not landed on the carrier 
previously, kept coming in high, then going around for another futile try. After this 
happened several times, Whiting grabbed the white hats from two nearby sailors 
and held them over his head to indicate to the pilot that he was too high.  
 
Then he slowly lowered them, 
effectively coaching the 
inexperienced flyer to a safe 
landing.  Thereafter, when 
pilots were attempting to land, 
an officer was stationed at the 
aft port corner of the flight deck 
with flags that he could use to 
signal if a plane was coming in 
too high or too low.  
 
Additional flag signals were created to indicate if a pilot was coming in too fast or 
too slow, not lined up properly, or not in proper (i.e., nose high/wings level) 
configuration. Thus was born on the deck of the LANGLEY the Landing Signal 
Officer (LSO) concept... 
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Throughout 1923 and for most of 1924,  the LANGLEY and her crew continued to 
perfect shipboard routine for carrier operations. In essence, they 'wrote the book' 
that future carrier crews followed. Training, pilot qualification and demonstrations 
for both Navy brass and civilian dignitaries took place along the Atlantic coast 
and in the Caribbean.  
 
In November of 1924, CV-1 
headed for the West Coast. 
After passing through the 
Panama Canal, she served for 
the next twelve years as a unit 
of the Pacific Battle Fleet.  
 
While her duties continued to 
include carrier operations' 
development and pilot training, 
LANGLEY also was involved in 
tactical-fleet practical problem 
solving. In this role, she added 
a third dimension to war games 
conducted by surface ships. 
 
By 1925, the Navy believed that its aviators had become adept enough to 
attempt night landings at sea. The first planned landings onboard LANGLEY took 
place off San Diego in April of 1925 while she was underway. However, two 
months prior, a pilot practicing approaches to the carrier at night in preparation 
for the planned experiments stalled his aircraft while flying low and slow over the 
carrier. He managed to make an emergency landing without damage to either his 
aircraft or himself, thus recording the first carrier landing at night in the US Navy.   
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Joseph Mason "Bull" Reeves (1872-1948) graduated 
from Annapolis in 1894. His early naval service was in 
surface ships, where he became known for his innovative 
tactics involving battleship operations. During his career, 
Reeves became the first skipper of the USS JUPITER 
when she was commissioned as a coal collier in 1913. 
 
He later became an advocate of naval aviation, and at 
age 53 qualified as a naval aviator. In 1925 he assumed 
the post of Commander, Aircraft Squadron, Battle Fleet 
and made the LANGLEY his flagship.  
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While in this command, Reeves worked successfully to develop advanced naval 
aviation tactics, including increasing sortie rates and making dive-bombing a 
major weapon. When he made CV-1 his flagship, she only had 12 aircraft 
embarked. Reeves insisted that she could operate far more than that number. 
Over time, he increased the number to 24, then 36 and finally 42 aircraft.  
 
The secret to significantly increasing the number of aircraft that LANGLEY could 
operate was largely due to the development of two concepts on the vessel's 
relatively narrow flight deck. 'Deck-park' involved positioning aircraft on the 
forward half of CV-1's flight deck, where they could be rapidly sent aloft. To 
prevent landing aircraft from plowing into these planes, a flexible crash barrier 
mainly consisting of reinforced cloth strips was positioned forward of the series of 
transverse arresting gear cables that stretched across the flight deck.  
 
When aircraft were being moved 
about the flight deck, this  barrier 
laid flat. During landing operations, 
it was raised, as shown on the right.  
If a plane missed all the cables, it would 
be stopped by the crash barrier. Any 
resultant damage to aircraft usually proved to 
be relatively minor and easily repairable after 
lowering the damaged plane to CV-1's main deck.  
 
If a plane stopped safely before reaching the barrier, as 
often was the case, the device could be quickly lowered and 
the aircraft moved forward and made ready for its next mission.  
 
Reeves led the way to switch from high altitude, level bombing to dive bombing. 
The former technique rarely yielded any hits on fast moving, evasive 
maneuvering ships. Dive bombing, when first tried by the LANGLEY's pilots in 
December of 1926 resulted in 19 hits out of 45 bombs released.  
 
"Bull" Reeves was not satisfied with those results and continuously pushed his 
pilots to dive ever lower, thus greatly improving their hit ratio. Some of his pupils 
later had key roles in the Battle of Midway, in which American dive bombers sunk 
four Japanese carriers in a very short period of time on June 4, 1942. 
 
Reeves was no doubt delighted when he got the momentous news of the 
American victory at Midway, which 'turned the tide' of warfare in the Pacific 
against the Japanese. Reeves had retired in 1936 with the rank of Vice Admiral, 
but returned to active duty in 1940 and served throughout America's participation 
in World War II. He retired a second time in 1946 with the rank of full admiral. 
 
The USS REEVES (DLG/CG-24) was commissioned in 1964. An airfield (i.e., 
'Reeves Field') at NAS Lemoore in California also honors his memory.   
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Largely forgotten today, the first time 'aggressor' airplanes appeared 
unexpectedly in the skies over Pearl Harbor was when aircraft from the 
LANGLEY suddenly made simulated attacks at dawn on May 17, 1928.  
 
The annual fleet exercises held by the US Navy that year featured a combined 
Army/Navy force defending the Hawaiian Islands, which were expected to detect 
and oppose an all-Navy attack force from sea that included CV-1.  
 
The attacking force managed to 
evade detection by the 
defenders while making a 
clandestine approach to Oahu. 
At 0430 hours on May 17th, 
Reeves launched 35 of the 
LANGLEY's 42 aircraft in just 
seven minutes, which then flew 
over Pearl Harbor.  
 
They took the defenders by 
complete surprise and 
conducted simulated raids on 
Wheeler Army Air Field as well 
as several other military 
installations at Pearl Harbor.  
 
The image on the right shows 
LANGLEY at anchor in Pearl 
Harbor with her air group 
assembled on her flight deck 
shortly after their successful 
surprise raid of May 17, 1928.  
 
During debriefings that followed that year's fleet exercise, senior American 
'battleship admirals' largely dismissed the accomplishments of the LANGLEY's 
pilots as being more of a distraction than anything practical.  
 
Japanese naval officials closely monitored all American fleet exercises between 
1921 and 1940. They were able to study Reeves' 1928 plan of attack on Pearl 
Harbor and its results; thanks to highly detailed reports that were not only 
unclassified, but publically published and widely distributed by the Navy.  
 
Thirteen years later, what the Japanese had learned was put to terrible use on 
the morning of December 7, 1941 at Pearl Harbor. One can only imagine how 
badly Reeves must have felt to have his imaginative plan copied by the enemy.    
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 In 1931, CV-1 participated in 
experiments involving the initial 
operation at sea of the Navy's first 
rotating wing aircraft. A Pitcarirn 
XOP-1 [left] landed and took off 
from her flight deck while CV-1 was 
underway. 
 
The results of those tests were not 
very encouraging. Accordingly, 
Navy brass decided that rotating 
wing aircraft had no place in fleet. 
 

Of course, after World War II, helicopters became a vital element in the US Navy.   
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By the mid-1930's, the Navy had in commission three larger carriers,  two more 
under construction at Newport News Shipbuilding [YORKTOWN (CV-5) and 
ENTERPRISE (CV-6); both launched in 1936] and another carrier in the final 
design stage elsewhere. Valuable lessons learned during LANGLEY's years of 
operation were incorporated in these and all future aircraft carriers designed and 
built for the US Navy. 
 
In October of 1936 the LANGLEY returned to her birthplace, the Mare Island 
Naval Yard for a general overhaul and conversion to become a seaplane tender. 
Her classification was changed from CV-1 to AV-3 and her profile altered 
considerably. A third of her flight deck was removed, and a crane installed aft of 
her bridge to handle seaplanes. But her aviation-related name was retained.  
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Returning to service in February of 1937, she became part of the Navy's Aircraft 
Scouting Force. For the next four years, she provided seaplane tender services 
in Alaska, Washington State, Hawaii and finally the Philippines. 
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When the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor, she was anchored off the Cavite 
Naval Base in the northernmost part of the Philippine Islands. The next day, she 
set sail and managed to make her way undetected by the enemy to Australia.  
 
Her next...and last...assignment was to deliver a cargo of 32 US Army P-40 
pursuit aircraft to a base in Java. On February 27, 1942, the LANGLEY and her 
escorts were approaching the port of Tjilatjap, Java. They had no aerial support. 
 
Attacked by Japanese aircraft and 
largely unable to defend herself, 
LANGLEY suffered five direct 
bomb hits. As a result, she lost 
propulsion and took on a serious 
list to port. Numerous fires burned 
out of control. 
 
Her crew abandoned ship and 
LANGLEY's escorts were forced to 
sink her to keep her cargo of P-40s 
from falling into enemy hands. 
 
Although most of her crew were rescued that day, on March 1, 1942, the 
American ship carrying them to safety was also attacked and sunk. Many of the 
survivors of the LANGLEY's sinking were unfortunately lost that day. 

�
������.���.	5�&
�.'16)���

�
About the same time CV-1 was lost, the US Navy had ordered nine light cruiser 
hulls be completed as aircraft carriers to help meet the overwhelming need for 
carriers. One of these vessels was designated to carry on the name of Langley. 
The second USS LANGLEY, designated CVL-27, was commissioned in August 
of 1943 and served in the Pacific for the rest of World War II. 
 
CVL-27 and her sisters were smaller than the nation's fleet carriers and carried 
about half as many aircraft. But they were a welcome addition to the fleet when 
larger carriers were still in short supply. 
 
CVL-27 was fitted with a small 
island structure. Somewhat 
reminiscent of her namesake, 
this vessel's boilers exhausted 
to four funnels that protruded 
outwards and upwards along 
her stardboard side, and visible 
in the photo on the right. 
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She was decommissioned and laid up in 1947. In 1951, she was transferred to 
the French Navy and renamed LAFAYETTE. Returned to the United States in 
1963, this former American aircraft carrier was scrapped in Baltimore in 1964.    
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The old 'Covered Wagon' was not a pretty ship, nor was she capable of 
sustained fleet operations as an aircraft carrier. But her contributions to naval 
aviation were many, in spite of the limitations imposed by a narrow flight deck 
and the windswept spaces of her hangar deck. 
 
Every carrier that followed her into service has incorporated many of the 
innovative features and operational practices first initiated and proven to be 
practical on her decks.  
 
Admiral Moffett, first chief of the Navy's Bureau of Aeronautics, probably said it 
best in 1920; even before the LANGLEY (CV-1), America's first aircraft carrier, 
became a reality:   
 
"Naval aviation must go to sea on the back of the fleet...the fleet and naval 
aviation are one and inseparable". 
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